THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001391

Corey Jawan Robinson, #00294233,

Appellant,

ISSUE THAT THE DRUGS SHOULD HAVE BEEN

 SUPPRESSED AS THEY WERE THE FRUIT OF THE

 POISONOUS TREE OF AN ILLEGAL ARREST..... 4

Conclusion 9

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court err in holding that Petitioner's appellate counsel was not ineffective in failing to file a merits brief on the issue that the drugs should have been suppressed as they were the fruit of the poisonous tree of an illegal arrest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 3, 2008, around 5:30 p.m., the Georgetown County Sheriff's Office received an anonymous telephone call to their 911 service indicating that the caller had witnessed a black male wearing a white jersey bearing the number 32 and an orange hat making a narcotics transaction in the caller's neighborhood. (App. p. 70 lines 1-4). Georgetown Sheriff's Deputy John Seale was dispatched to the scene. (App. p. 70 lines 21-22). Upon his arrival, and without speaking to the caller, Deputy Seale began looking for someone who fit the announced description. (App. p. 70 line 22 - p. 71 line 6).

He came upon the Petitioner several streets over from where the caller had reported seeing the illegal conduct. (App. p. 70 line 22 - p. 71 line 6). Deputy Seale got out of his car, approached the Petitioner and asked him for identification. (App. p. 72 lines 14-15). Deputy Seale then asked Petitioner if he had any weapons and Petitioner responded that he did not. (App. p. 72 line 23 - p. 73 line 3). Deputy Seale asked Petitioner if he could pat him down for weapons and the Petitioner agreed while raising his hands above his head. (App. p. 73 lines 4-7). Deputy Seale then, rather than simply patting Petitioner down, attempted to place Petitioner in handcuffs so that he could do a "proper search", which Petitioner resisted. (App. p. 73 lines 7-15). At that time, Deputy Seale testified that Petitioner struck him several times and ran away. (App. p. 73 lines 16-17). Petitioner

denies striking the officer. (App. p. 298 lines 5-6). After a foot pursuit of some length, Deputy Seale caught Petitioner and wrestled him to the ground in or around the parking lot of a local club. (App. p. 73 lines 18-24). The parties continued to scuffle until Deputy Seale eventually handcuffed the Petitioner and walked him to where other officers were waiting. (App. p. 73 line 25 - p. 75 line 9).

After turning Petitioner over to a fellow officer, Deputy Seale showed another Deputy, Deputy Geno, where the Petitioner had been apprehended. (App. p. 84, lines 23-24). After a search, Deputy Geno collected some marijuana and some crack cocaine from the grounds of the club. (App. p. 85, lines 13-14). Petitioner was later given warrants for, “J-512017: Drugs / Manufacture, distribution, etc. of cocaine base, 1st,” “J-512018: Drugs / Manuf., poss. Of other sub. In Sch. I, II, III or flunitrazepam or analogue, with intent to distribute, 1st offense,” and “J-512019: Resisting/Resisting Arrest, Oppose, resist, or assault law enforcement officer serving process.” (App. pp. 387, 393 and 399).

On March 16, 2009, Petitioner was tried in the Georgetown County Court of General Sessions. Prior to the commencement of the trial, Petitioner’s attorney moved to suppress the drugs on the grounds that the State did not have probable cause to arrest the Petitioner when Deputy Seale attempted to place Petitioner in handcuffs, that Petitioner therefore had a right to resist Deputy Seale’s attempts to arrest him, and that any further detention of Petitioner amounted to an illegal seizure of his person which caused the subsequent seizure of the drug evidence to be fruit of the poisonous tree. (App. p. 10 line 25 – p. 29 line 22). This Motion was denied by The Court. (App p. 29 line 22). After pre-trial motions and the selection of the jury, Petitioner’s lawyer, Reuben Goude, Esquire, was relieved and Petitioner thereafter represented himself Pro Se. Petitioner was convicted on

Indictment # 2008-GS-22-00727 Possession of Cocaine Base with Intent to Distribute, Indictment #2008-GS-22-00728 Possession of Marijuana with Intent to Distribute and Indictment # 2008-GS-22-00729 Assault while Resisting Arrest. (App. pp. 192 line 17 - 193 line 1). Petitioner was sentenced to second offenses on each of the drug charges because the Solicitor informed the Judge that the charges had been indicted with the CDR codes for seconds (App. p. 197 lines 20-24). The solicitor offered no evidence of Petitioner's prior convictions.

Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Intent to Appeal his trial verdict and the appeal was handled by Wanda H. Carter, Esquire, Deputy Chief Appellate Defender for the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense. Ms. Carter filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967) on or around December 29, 2009. (App. pp. 203-213). This brief included a discussion of whether Petitioner had made a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel in deciding to proceed with his trial as a Pro Se litigant. (App. pp. 203-213). The brief did not argue Petitioner's contention that the drugs that were found should have been suppressed as being the fruit of the poisonous tree of an illegal arrest. (App. pp. 203-213). In Unpublished Opinion No. 2011-UP-191, filed on April 28, 2011, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal and relieved Ms. Carter from further representation. (App. p. 235). Petitioner attempted to appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court as a Pro Se litigant, but his Petition for Certiorari was dismissed pursuant to State v. Lyles, 381 S.C. 442, 673 S.E. 2d 811 (2009). (App. p. 238).

Petitioner filed a Post Conviction Relief action on July 11, 2011 asserting various grounds for Post Conviction Relief. (App. pp. 236-258). Petitioner filed a Pro Se

amendment to his PCR application on February 15, 2012, offering further grounds. (App. pp. 267-273). Again, Petitioner filed a Pro Se Amended Application for Post Conviction Relief on or about February 25, 2013. (App. pp. 274 – 282). On March 5, 2013, Petitioner's Post Conviction Relief Counsel filed Amended Attachments to Petitioner's Petition for Post Conviction Relief, which included the issue at bar. (App. pp. 283-288).

On April 26, 2013, Petitioner's Post Conviction Relief hearing was conducted in front of the Honorable Larry B. Hyman at the Georgetown County Courthouse in Georgetown, South Carolina. (App. p. 289). Following a hearing, Judge Hyman denied Post Conviction Relief to the Petitioner on all grounds. (App. p. 378 line 6). He issued a written Order to that effect on May 9, 2013, Petitioner's counsel received written notice of entry of the order on June 19, 2013, and a notice of appeal was served on June 23, 2013. Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari to review this denial.

ARGUMENT

1. APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO FILE A MERITS BRIEF ON THE ISSUE THAT THE DRUGS SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED AS THEY WERE THE FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE OF AN ILLEGAL ARREST.

A criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 398, 105 S.Ct. 830 (1985). For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, the applicant must show that 1) counsel's performance was deficient and 2) he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.

668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). “Even where appellate counsel believes his client's appeal is without merit and thus files an Anders brief, the appellant may have been entitled to a merits brief and the challenge of appellate counsel's performance should be reviewed under Strickland.” Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 310, 680 S.E. 2d 273 (2009), discussing Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 284, 120 S.Ct. 746 (2000).

A. DEFICIENCY OF COUNSEL’S PERFORMANCE

While it is true that, “Appellate counsel is not required to raise every nonfrivolous issue that is presented by the record,” Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 539, 397 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1990), in the matter at bar, the issue of whether or not the drugs were to be suppressed stands out as the central issue of this case. This idea that the drugs were found only after an illegal seizure of Petitioner’s person was argued by Petitioner’s counsel during the pre—trial hearings and remained the focus of Petitioner’s defense throughout the trial. Where Appellate counsel could find no issue that she believed to be meritorious and thus filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967), her failure to brief the very real Fourth Amendment issues involved in this case stands out as being representation that is deficient under the circumstances.

B. PREJUDICE TO THE PETITIONER

"When the defendant claims that counsel's failure to articulate a Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, defendant must show that such claim is meritorious and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded." Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994). Similarly, here,

whether or not Petitioner was prejudiced by Appellate counsel's failure to raise this issue in a merits brief hinges on the merit of the argument to be made.

"The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of the people to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized." McHam v. State, 404 S.C 465, 476, 746 S.E.2d 41 (2013).

"A police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity." State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535 (Ct.App.1999).

The initial question, then, is did the State have reasonable suspicion sufficient to stop Petitioner on the roadway on the day of his arrest? In Petitioner's case, the Georgetown County Sheriffs received an anonymous telephone call which led them to stop Petitioner as he was walking down the street. (App. p.70 line 1 – p. 72 line 1). Deputy Seale offered no testimony that he observed Petitioner doing anything suspicious when he originally saw him, so unless the anonymous tip is enough to give the State reasonable suspicion, they did not have it initially.

"Reasonable suspicion based solely on a call made from an unknown location by an unknown caller lack[s] sufficient indicia of reliability to make an investigatory stop." State v. Green, 341 S.C. 214, 217, 532 S.E.2d 896 (Ct.App.2000). "Anonymous tips ... are

generally less reliable than tips from known informants and can form the basis for reasonable suspicion only if accompanied by specific indicia of reliability, for example, the correct forecast of a subject's 'not easily predicted' movements." Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 269, 120 S.Ct. 1375 (2000), quoting Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 332, 110 S.Ct. 2412 (1990).

The detailed description of the clothing of Petitioner might lead one to conclude that this means that the anonymous tip was reliable. After all, Deputy Seale was able to find someone in the area that perfectly matched the description given by the anonymous caller. However, the United States Supreme Court has said that, "An accurate description of a subject's readily observable location and appearance is of course reliable in this limited sense: It will help the police correctly identify the person whom the tipster means to accuse. Such a tip, however, does not show that the tipster has knowledge of concealed criminal activity. The reasonable suspicion here at issue requires that a tip be reliable in its assertion of illegality, not just in its tendency to identify a determinate person." Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272, 120 S.Ct. 1375 (2000). It would appear, therefore, that Deputy Seale did not have any reasonable, articulable suspicion against the Petitioner.

The next question we need to address is whether or not Deputy Seale acted properly in attempting to place Petitioner in handcuffs. Deputy Seale next testified that Petitioner was acting nervous during their encounter. (App. p. 72 lines 15-25). This is the only justification he gives for asking Petitioner if he could pat him down for weapons. Deputy Seale testified that Petitioner agreed to allow the pat down and put his arms over his head. (App. p. 73 lines 4-7). Now it can be argued that Petitioner's encounter with Deputy Seale may have been consensual up until this point. However, Deputy Seale's decision to place

Petitioner in handcuffs at this point clearly exceeded the scope of any detention his suspicion may have afforded him and certainly exceeded the permission that Petitioner had just given him for the pat down. (App. p. 73 lines 7-15). At the time, Deputy Seale attempted to place Petitioner in handcuffs, he was attempting to unlawfully seize Petitioner's person without reasonable suspicion or probable cause. In effect, Deputy Seale attempted to make an unlawful arrest.

"An arrest, the highest form of seizure possible under the Fourth Amendment, occurs when a police officer physically restrains a suspect or forces submission through a show of authority." State v. Brannon, 379 S.C. 487, 507, 666 S.E. 2d 272 (S.C. App. 2008), discussing California v. Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621, 111 S.Ct. 1547 (1991). "Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise." Wortman v. City of Spartanburg, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18 (1992).

Clearly at this stage Deputy Seale had no grounds to believe that a crime had been committed other than an anonymous tip that was not even enough to create reasonable suspicion. Although Deputy Seale claims that he only was attempting to put Petitioner in handcuffs so that he could safely perform the consensual pat down for weapons, this physical restraint goes beyond what is reasonable for officer safety and thus violates Petitioner's rights under the Fourth Amendment.

The Court has stated that a person has a right to resist an unlawful arrest even to the extent of taking the life of the aggressor if it be necessary in order to regain his liberty. State v. Poinsett, 250 S.C. 293, 157 S.E.2d 570 (1967). Here, everything that happened

after Deputy Seale attempted to place Petitioner in handcuffs was a result of Deputy Seale's attempt to make an unlawful arrest and Petitioner exercising his right to resist such an unlawful arrest.