ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

June 5, 2014

VIA HAND DELIVERY

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court
Post Office Box 11330
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

RECEIVED

JUN 5 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

RE: Corey Jawan Robinson v. State of South Carolina
Appellate Case No: 2013-001391

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed for filing are the original and six (6) copies of the **Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari** in the above-referenced case. By copy of this letter we are serving opposing counsel today.

Sincerely,

Joshua L. Thomas
Assistant Attorney General

JLT/nb
Enclosures

cc: Jason P. Boan, Esquire (2 copies)

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge properly find appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the admission of drug evidence on appeal where the issue was not preserved for review when Petitioner consented to the admission of the evidence; where Petitioner raised the issue on direct appeal by including it in his *pro se* response to an Anders brief; and where the admission of the drugs did not violate Petitioner's Fourth Amendment rights when reasonable suspicion justified a frisk for officer safety during an investigatory detention.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2008, the Georgetown County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for possession of cocaine base with intent to distribute, possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, and assault while resisting arrest. (App. pp. 389-402). The State tried Petitioner before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury on March 16, 2009. (App. p. 1). C. Reuben Goude, Esquire (“trial counsel”), initially represented Petitioner at trial. (App. p. 1). After Judge John heard pre-trial motions, Applicant made a motion to relieve trial counsel. (App. p. 39, lines 18-21). After extensive questioning of Petitioner, Judge John granted the motion and allowed Petitioner to proceed *pro se*. (App. p. 47, line 24-p.48, line 1).

The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. (App. p. 192, line 17-p. 193, line 1). Judge John sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of fifteen (15) years for possession of cocaine base with intent to distribute, ten (10) years for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, and ten (10) years for assault while resisting arrest. (App. p. 199, lines 11-25).

Wanda H. Carter, Esquire (“appellate counsel”), of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense perfected Petitioner’s appeal with the filing of an Anders¹ brief on December 29, 2009. (App. pp. 203-13). Applicant filed a *pro se* response to the Anders brief. (App. pp. 214-34). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Robinson, Op. No. 2011-UP-191 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 28, 2011). (App. pp. 235).

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on July 11, 2011. (App. pp. 236-58). Jason P. Boan, Esquire, (“PCR counsel”) represented Petitioner. (App. p. 289) PCR counsel filed an amended application on or about March 5, 2013 (App. pp. 283-88). The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. (“PCR judge”), convened a hearing on the application at the Georgetown County Courthouse on April 26, 2013. (App. p. 289). Petitioner was present and represented by PCR counsel. (App. p. 289). Assistant Attorney General T. Andrew Johnson, Esquire, represented Respondent. (App. p. 289). The PCR judge denied relief in an order dated May 9, 2013, and filed June 4, 2013. (App. pp. 380-85).

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the PCR judge's finding appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to brief the suppression issue.

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred by finding appellate counsel was not ineffective for failing to argue the drug evidence should have been suppressed as "fruit of the poisonous tree of an illegal arrest." (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 4). However, probative evidence supports the PCR judge's finding Petitioner had shown neither error nor prejudice from appellate counsel's performance.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

A defendant is constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985). "However, appellate counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous issue that is presented by the record." Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 539, 397 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1990) (citing Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745 (1983)). Appellate counsel has a professional duty to choose among potential issues according to their merit. Jones, 463 U.S. at 753. Where the strategic decision to exclude certain issues on appeal is based on reasonable professional judgment, the failure to appeal all trial errors is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Griffin v. Aiken, 775 F.2d

1226, 1235 (4th Cir. 1985). Petitioner must show that appellate counsel's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by the deficiency. Thrift, 302 S.C. at 537, 397 S.E.2d at 526; Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit court. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989)).

A. Appellate counsel was not deficient because the suppression issue was not preserved for appellate review.

Appellate counsel is not ineffective for failing to brief an issue where the issue “would not have been preserved for appeal[.]” Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 222, 225, 562 S.E.2d 618, 620 (2002). Petitioner failed to renew his objection to Judge John's pre-trial ruling regarding the admissibility of the drug evidence. Therefore, appellate counsel could not have challenged Judge John's ruling on appeal.

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion *in limine* does not

constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993).

In the case at bar, any issue with the admission of the drug evidence was not properly preserved for appellate review. At the outset of trial, trial counsel made a motion *in limine* seeking the suppression of the drugs discovered in the area where Petitioner was apprehended. (App. p. 11, lines 2-9). After hearing testimony of the arresting officer, Judge John issued a preliminary ruling denying the suppression motion. (App. p. 19, line 23-p. 28, line 22). Thereafter, when the solicitor moved to introduce the drugs into evidence during trial, Petitioner did not renew his pre-trial objection and, instead, affirmatively stated the evidence could be admitted without objection. (App. p. 130, lines 16-22; p. 139, lines 7-11). Instead of renewing his objection to the evidence, Petitioner consented to its introduction. See State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion *in limine* to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”). By indicating he had no objection to the drugs when the State moved them into evidence, Petitioner expressly waived his pre-trial objection to the introduction of that evidence. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not

preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) (“This testimony was admitted without objection. Because Burton failed to object, he is barred from raising this issue on appeal.”). Accordingly, any issue related to the introduction of drugs could not properly be raised or reviewed on appeal. See Dicapua, 373 S.C. at 455-456, 646 S.E.2d at 152.

Because Petitioner did not properly preserve the suppression issue for review, appellate counsel could not have raised it on appeal. Therefore, appellate counsel was not ineffective. Legge, 349 S.C. at 225, 562 S.E.2d at 620. Accordingly, the PCR judge properly denied relief.

B. Petitioner was not prejudiced because he raised the suppression issue in his *pro se* response to the Anders brief.

Furthermore, Applicant has not shown he was prejudiced by appellate counsel’s decision to file an Anders brief because the Court of Appeals’ dismissal indicates it also reviewed Applicant’s *pro se* response. In State v. Lyles, 381 S.C. 442, 673 S.E.2d 811 (2009), this Court outlined the Anders procedure as follows:

In these cases, the role of the appellate court is to review the brief submitted by counsel, any *pro se* response submitted by the appellant, and the record on appeal to determine whether the appeal contains any issues of arguable merit.

381 S.C. at 444, 673 S.E.2d at 813 (citing State v. Williams, 305 S.C. 116, 406 S.E.2d 357 (1991)). Petitioner’s *pro se* response to the Anders brief directly raised the issue of whether Judge John properly denied the suppression motion. (App. p. 222-23). The Court of Appeals opinion indicates it reviewed the issues raised in the *pro se* response.

(App. p. 235). Therefore, Petitioner cannot now argue appellate counsel's decision not to raise this issue prejudiced him. Accordingly, the PCR judge properly denied relief.

C. Petitioner was not prejudiced because the seizure of the drugs did not violate the Fourth Amendment.

Furthermore, Petitioner cannot show he would have been successful on appeal if appellate counsel had briefed the suppression issue. The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see also Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

“A police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 412 S.E.2d 411 (1991); Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 237 S.E.2d 589; State v. Fowler, 322 S.C. 263, 471 S.E.2d 706 (Ct. App. 1996)). The reasonableness of an investigatory stop is determined by looking at the totality of the circumstances. State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013). “Among the circumstances to be considered in connection with [the] issue [of the propriety of a stop and frisk] are the ‘characteristics of the area’ where the stop occurs, the time of the

stop, whether late at night or not, as well as any suspicious conduct of the person accosted such as an obvious attempt to avoid officers or any nervous conduct on the discovery of their presence.” United States v. Bull, 565 F.2d 869, 870-871 (4th Cir. 1977). “Reasonable suspicion ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). It is “more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see also State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”). All of the circumstances of the stop must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer’s actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to the officer at the time. See United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that ‘might well elude an untrained person.’” (citations omitted)); see also United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”).

Petitioner contends the officer violated his constitutional rights by conducting the frisk search because there was no reasonable suspicion to stop and question him. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 6). Specifically, Petitioner argues an “anonymous tip” is not sufficient to warrant an investigative detention. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 6-7). Unfortunately, Petitioner has entirely misconstrued the record in this regard. The call to police was not from an anonymous source. (App. p. 90, lines 10-14).² Rather, it came from Karen Fordham. (App. p. 59, lines 23-24). Ms. Fordham testified she told the police she witnessed Petitioner pass some drugs to another person. (App. p. 59, lines 11-14). In no way was this an anonymous tip to police. Instead, it was a report of criminal activity from an eyewitness. Under those circumstances, the officer was well within the bounds of the Fourth Amendment when he briefly stopped Petitioner to investigate the report.

Furthermore, the officer testified Petitioner was acting nervous when approached and had his hands in his pockets. (App. p. 15, lines 22-p. 16, line 7). The officer also stopped Petitioner in an area known for drug activity. (App. p. 18, line 22). Furthermore, the officer testified the large sum of money Petitioner showed him was consistent with evidence Petitioner engaged in drug sales. (App. p. 18, lines 16-19). These factors, viewed in light of the officer’s experience and the witness’ description, is sufficient to create reasonable suspicion to believe Petitioner had engaged in the drug transaction described by the witness. See State v. Smith, 329 S.C. 550, 557, 495 S.E.2d 798, 802 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding the officer was justified in conducting a frisk search after the suspect behaved in an “edgy” manner); State v. Abrams, 322 S.C. 286, 288, 471 S.E.2d

² “A lot of times people remain anonymous. Obviously she didn't because she gave her name on the 911 tape, but that information was not given to me.”

716, 717 (Ct. App. 1996) (frisking justified when suspect questioned in “area known for drugs”); Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 273 (allowing officers to make inferences and deductions based on their training and experience). Therefore, the officer was justified in asking Petitioner to submit to a pat down to ensure the officer’s safety. See Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000) (recognizing a person’s presence in a high crime area is one relevant contextual consideration in a Terry analysis); see also State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 253, 639 S.E.2d 36, 40 (2006) (frisks for officer safety justified because of the “indisputable nexus between drugs and guns”).

The record is clear Petitioner was not under arrest when the officer sought to place him in investigatory detention. State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 243, 679 S.E.2d 187, 193 (Ct. App. 2009) aff’d as modified, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (2011) (“[T]he law is clear that the police may, in an investigative detention, briefly detain and question a person upon a reasonable suspicion, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.”). Furthermore, Petitioner appeared to consent to the justified frisk until the moment he decided to assault the officer and flee. (App. p. 24, line 12-p. 25, line 23). Once Petitioner made the decision to punch the officer, his commission of a crime justified his arrest on that ground alone.

In light of the circumstances, Judge John properly denied Petitioner’s motion to suppress. Therefore, even if the issue was preserved and not raised in the *pro se* response to the Anders brief, Petitioner would not have been successful on this issue on appeal. Accordingly, Petitioner has not shown he was prejudiced by appellate counsel’s decision to not brief this issue.

Because the record contains significant probative evidence appellate counsel did not fail to raise a viable issue and Petitioner was not prejudiced by appellate counsel’s

decision, the PCR judge did not err in denying the application for post-conviction relief.

Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 163, 485 S.E.2d at 369.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.